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The Complaint alleges that XCL and Verdun acquiredtE®ugh a transaction in excess
of the themapplicable statutory thresholds, without observing the required HSR Act waiting
period. The HSR Act provides that “no person shall acquire, directly or indirectly, any voting

securities of any person” exceedicgrtain thresholds until that person has filed pre
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Il DESCRIPTION OF THE EVENTS
A. XCL and Verdun’sacquisition of EP

On July 26, 2021, XCL and Verdun agreed to acquire EP for approximately $1.4 billion.
Defendants are engaged, among other things, in the development, production, and sale of crude
oil in the United States. XCL operates in thatdiBasin of Utah. Verdun operates in the Eagle
Ford area of Texas. EP operates in both the Uinta Basis and the Eagle Ford area. Shortly
thereafter, Defendants’ parent entitidsd the preacquisition Notification and Report forms
required by Section 7A of the Clayton Act. After reviewing the parties’ filings, the Federal Trade
Commission(FTC") opened an investigation into the competitive effects of the proposed
transaction. XCL and EP were two of four significant oil and gas development and production
companies in northeast Utah’s Uinta Basin. The FTC alleged in its complainftiathe
acquisition of EP, if XCL reduced the volume of crude oil that it egpb Salt lake City, Salt
Lake City area refiners would be forced to pay more for Uinta Basin waxy cilud#timately,
the FTC obtained a consent agreement resolving its concerns about the impact of the transaction
on competition in the market for the development, production, and sale of waxy crude oil in the
Uinta Basin area of Utah. The consent agreementrezjDefendants to divest all of EP’s Utah
operations to a qualified thindarty operator, Crescent Energy. Entry of the consent agreement
terminated the HSRct waiting period on March 25, 2022. XCGind Verdun consummated the
transaction on March 30, 2022, and EP i&@owholly owned subsidiary of Verdun.

B. Defendants’ alleged violation of Section 7A

The HSR Act requirements apply to a transaction if, as a result of the transaction, the

acquirer will “hold” assets or voting securities valued above the thresholds. Under HSR Rule

801.1(c), to “hold” assets or voting securities means “beneficial ownership, whether direct, or



indirect through fiduciaries, agents, controlled entities or other means.” 16 C.F.R 801.1(c). Thus,
under the Act, parties must make an HSR Act filing and observe a waiting period before
transferring beneficial ownership of the assets or voting securities to be acquired. The Statement
of Basis and Purpose accompanying the Rules explains that beneficial ownership is determined
on a caséy-case basis, based on the indicia of beneficial ownership which inelombag

others, the right to obtain the benefit of any increase in value or dividends and the risk of loss of
value. 43 Fed. Reg. 33,449 (July 31, 1978jirch may also gain beneficial ownership by

obtaining “operational control” of an asset.

The combination of XCL and Verdun’'s agreement to purchase EP and their assumption
of key ordinaryeourse functions transferred beneficial ownership of EP’s business t@axCL
Verdun before they had fulfilled their obligations under the HSR Act. Specifically, the July 26,
2021 Purchase Agreement provided for the immediate transfer of control over key aspects of
EP’s business to XChnd Verdun, including granting XCL and Verdun approval rights over
EP’s ongoing and planned crude oil development and production activities and many of EP’s
ordinarycourse expenditures. XCL put an immediate halt to EP’s newdniihg activities, so

that XCL—not EP—



informationto XCL and Verdun businesspeoptequiring approval obrdinary-course
expendituresandcoordinating with EP on EP’s contract negotiations with certain customers in

the Eagle Ford production area. The illegal conduct lasted through October 27, 2021, when the



1. EXPLANATION OF THE PROPOSED FINAL JUDGMENT
The relief required byhie proposed Final Judgment will prevent future violations of
Section 7A of the Clayton Act of the type Defendants committed and secures a monetary civil

penalty for XCL’s, Verdun’sand EP’s violation of Section 7A. The proposed Final Judgment



assessed on a casg-case basis depending on a variety of faetdyat to broadly cover the
Defendants’ conduct in this matter and prevent recurrence.
B. Permitted Conduct

Section VI of the proposed Final Judgment identifies certain agreements and conduct that
are permitted by the Judgment. Paragraplf&) and VI(B) ensure that the decree will not be
interpreted to forbid specified “conduct of business” covenants that are typically found in merger
agreements. These are customary provisions found in most merger agreements and are intended
to protect the value of the transaction and prevent&tzquired person from wasting assets.
ParagraplVI(C) ensures that the decreeedmot prevent certain ordinacpurse agreements in
the oil and gas industry. ParagrayliD) recognize narrow exceptions to the restrictions on
access to nepublic informationin Paragraptv(A)(4) for certain activities, such gmarticipating
in litigation.

C. Compliance

Sections VIl and VIII of the proposed Final Judgment set forth various compliance
procedures. Section VIl sets up an affirmative compliance program directed toward ensuring
compliance with the limitations imposed by the proposed Final Judgmdnwith the federal
antitrust laws The compliance program includes the designation of a qualified antitrust
compliance officer who is required to ensure that the relevant Defetidantiutes a copy of the
Final Judgment to eacturrentand succeeding director, office, employee, agandther person
with the responsibility over sales, marketing, strategic planning, exploration and development, or

mergers and acquisitiongriefs each such person regarding compliance with the Final Judgment
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and agrees to abide by its terrirsaddition, Defendantsiust provide a copy of the Final
Judgment to certain parties entering a merger or acquisition with a Def@nidand signing the
definitive agreement. Section VIl of the proposed Final Judgment further requires the
compliance officer to certify to the Wad Stateshat Defendanis in compliance and to report
any violations of the Final Judgment.

To facilitate monitoring of Defendants’ compliance with the Final Judgment, Section
VIII grants DOJ access, upon reasonable notice, to Defendants’ records and documents relating
to matters contained in the Final Judgment. Defendants must also make its personnel available
for interviews or depositions regarding such matters. In addition, Defendantsipwstrequest,
prepare written reports relating to matter contained in the Final Judgment.

D. Civil Penalties

The proposed Final Judgment imposes a $5,684,377 civil penalty for Defendants’
violation of the HSR Act. The United States adjusted the penalty downward from the maximum
permitted under the HSR Act in part because the DefemaaaTe willing to resolve the matter
by consent decree and avoid a prolonged investigation and litigation. The relief will have a
beneficial effect on competition because it will deter future instances in which parties seek to
immediately acquire control of an independent competitive presence before filing the required
pre-acquisition notifications with the agencies and observing the required waiting period. At the
same time, the penalty will not have any adverse effect on competition.
IV.  REMEDIES AVAILABLE TO POTENTIAL PRIVATE LITIGANTS

There is no private antitrust action for HSR Act violations; therefore, entry of the
proposed Final Judgment will neither impair nor assist the bringing of any private antitrust

action.
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V. PROCEDURES AVAILABLE FOR MODIFICATION OF THE PROPOSED
FINAL JUDGMENT

The United States and the Defendants have stipulated that the proposed Final Judgment
may be entered by this Court after compliance with the provisions of the APPA, provided that
the United States has not withdrawn its consent. The APPA conditions entry of the decree upon
this Court’s determination that the proposed Final Judgment is in the public interest.

The APPA provides a period of at least sixty (60) days preceding the effective date of the
proposed Final Judgment within which any person may submit to the United States written
comments regarding the proposed Final Judgment. Any person who wishes to comment should
do so within sixty (60) days of the date of publication of this Competitive Impact Statement in
the Federal Register, aithin sixty (60) days of the first date of publication in a newspaper of
the summary of this Competitive Impact Statement, whichever is later. All comments received
during this period will be considered by the United States Department of Justice, which remains
free to withdraw its consent to the proposed Final Judgment at any time prior to the Court’s entry
of judgment. The comments and the response of the United States will be filed with this Court.
In addition, comments will be posted on the U.S. Depant of Justice, Antitrust Division’s
internet website and, under certain circumstances, published in the Federal Register. Written
comments should be submitted to:

Maribeth Petrizzi

Special Attorney, United States
c/o Federal Trade Commission
600 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW
CC-8416

Washington, DC 20580
Email: bccompliance@ftc.qgov




The proposed Final Judgment provides that this Court retains jurisdiction over this action,
and the parties may apply to this Court for any order necessary or appropriate for the
modification, interpretation, or enforcement of the Final Judgment.

VI.  ALTERNATIVES TO THE PROPOSED FINAL JUDGMENT

As an alternative to the proposed Final JudgntbetlUnited States considered a full trial
on the merits against the Defendants. The United States is satisfied, however, that the relief
required by the proposédnal Judgmentvill remedythe violation alleged in the Complaint and
deter violations by similarly situated entities in the futdreus, the proposed Final Judgment
achieves all or substantially all of the relief the United States would have obtained through
litigation but avoidghe time, expense, and uncertainty of a full trial on the merits.

VIl.  STANDARD OF REVIEW UNDER THE APPA FOR THE PROPOSED FINAL
JUDGMENT

Under the Clayton Act and APPA, proposed Final Judgments, or “consent deicrees,”

antitrust cases brought by the United States are

10
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Id. 8 16(e)(1)(A) & (B). In considering these statutory factors, the court’s inquiry is necessarily a
limited one, as the government is entitled to “broad discretion to settle with the defendant within
the reaches of the public interest.” United States v. Microsoft Corp., 56 F.3d 1448, 1461 (D.C.
Cir. 1995); ; United States v, U.S. Airways Group, Inc., 38 F. Supp. 3d 69, 75 (D.D.C. 2014)
(noting the governmeritas broad discretion of the adequacy of the relief at issue); United States
v. InBev N.V./S.A., N®8-1965 (JR), 2002 Trade Cas. (CCH) 1 76,736, 2009 U.S. Dist.

LEXIS 84787, at *3, (D.D.C. Aug. 11, 2009) (noting that the court’s review of a consent
judgment is limited and only inquires “into whether the government’s determination that the
proposedemedies will cure the antitrust violatioabeged in the complaint was reasonable, and
whether the mechanism to enforce the final judgment are clear and manageable.”).

As the United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit has held,
under the APPA a court consideamong other things, the relationship between the remedy
secured and the specific allegations in the governmentigplaint, whether the proposed Final
Judgments sufficiently clear, whethets enforcement mechanisms are sufficient, and whéther
may positively harm third parties. See Microsbé F.3d at 14582. With respect to the
adequacy of the relief secured by the proposed Final Judganemiirt may not “make de novo
determination of facts and issues.” United States v. W. Elec. Co., 993 F.2d 1572, 1577 (D.C. Cir.
1993) (quotation marks omittediee also Microsof66 F.3d at 146@2; United States v. Alcoa,

Inc., 152 F. Supp. 2d 37, 40 (D.D.C. 2001); United States v. Enova Corp., 107 F. Supp. 2d 10, 16
(D.D.C. 2000); InBey2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 84787, at *3.

Instead, “[t]he balancing of competing social and political interests affected by a

proposed antitrust decree must be left, in the first instance, to the discretion of the Attorney

General.” W. Elec. Co., 993 F.2d at 1577 (quotation marks omitted). “The court should also bear

11



in mind the flexibilityof the public interest inquiry: the court’s function is not to determine
whether the resulting array of rights and liabilities is the one that willseegé society, but only
to confirm that the resulting settlement is within the readidke public interest.Microsoft 56
F.3d at 1460 (quotation marks omitted); see also United States v. Deutsche Telekdmn 2¢5
2232 (TJK), 2020 WL 1873555, at *7 (D.D.C. Apr. 14, 2020). More demanding requirements
would “have enormous practicconsequences for the government’s ability to negotiate future
settlements,” contrary to congressional intent. Micro&et-.3d at 1456. “The Tunney Act was
not intended to create a disincentive to the use of the consent decree.” Id.

The United States’ predictions about the efficacy of the remedy are to be afforded
deference by the Court. See, eMdicrosoft 56 F.3d at 1461 (recognizing courts should give
“due respect to the Justice Department’s . . . view of the nature of its case”); United States v. Iron
Mountain, Inc., 217 F. Supp. 3d 146, 152-53 (D.D.C. 2016) (“In evaluating objections to
settlement agreements under the Tunney Act, a court must be mindful that [tlhe government
need not prove that the settlements will perfectly remedy the alleged antitrust harmsJ;] it need
only provide a factual basis for concluding that the settlements are reasonably adequate remedies

for the alleged harms.” (internal citations omitted));

12



Moreover, the court’s role under the APPA is limited to reviewing the remedy in
relationship to the violations that the United States has alleged in its Complaint and does not
authorize the court to “construct [its] own hypothetical case and then evileatecree against

that case.Microsoft

13
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enacted the Tunney Act in 1974. 8snator Tunney explained: “The court is nowhere
compelled to go to trial or to engage in extended proceedings which might have the effect of
vitiating the benefits of prompt and less costly settlement through the consent decree process.”
119 Cong. Rec. 24,598 (1973) (statement of Sen. Tunn&ypurt can make its public interest
determination based on the competitive impact statement and response to public comments
alone’” U.S. Airways 38 F. Supp. 3d at 76 (citignova Corp., 107 F. Supp. 2d at 17).
VIII. DETERMINATIVE DOCUMENTS
There are no determinative materials or documents within the meaning of the APPA that

were considered by the United States in formulating the proposed Final Judgment.

Date: January 7, 2025 Respectfully Submitted,

[s/_Kenneth A. Libby

Kenneth A. Libby

Special Attorney

U.S. Department of Justice
Antitrust Division

c/o Federal Trade Commission
600 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW
Washington, D.C. 20580
Phone: (202) 326-2694

Email: klibby@ftc.gov
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